







Veterinary Incentive **Program** 



## PROGRAM GUIDELINES (AUGUST 2025)







## VETERINARY INCENTIVE PROGRAM – PROGRAM GUIDELINES

Ontario is launching the Veterinary Incentive Program (the Program) to encourage Newly Licensed Veterinarians to practice in Underserviced Areas including northern communities in Ontario by providing annual grants that can total up to \$50,000 per person.

These Guidelines are effective as of October 26, 2023. These Guidelines are subject to change from time to time. Please consult the Agricultural Adaptation Council's (AAC) website at <a href="www.adaptcouncil.org/program/vip">www.adaptcouncil.org/program/vip</a> or contact the AAC at <a href="admin@adaptcouncil.org">admin@adaptcouncil.org</a> or 1 (800) 769-3272 to find out more about the Program and ensure you are using the most up-to-date version of these Guidelines. For interpretation of these Guidelines please see Section 11.

The Veterinary Incentive Program is funded by the Government of Ontario to provide grants for Newly Licensed Veterinarians who practice on Food Animals in Underserviced Areas of Ontario. The Agricultural Adaptation Council is delivering the Program on behalf of the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Agribusiness.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.	Pu	rpose of the Program	5
2.	Wh	no Can Apply	5
:	2.1	Eligibility Requirements	5
3.	Но	w to Apply	6
;	3.1	Application Submission	6
,	3.2	Online Registration and Submission	6
;	3.3	How is an Application Assessed	6
;	3.4	Merit and Priority Review	7
;	3.5	How will Applicants be Notified of Funding Decisions	7
;	3.6	Confirmation of Veterinary Clinic Eligibility	7
;	3.7	Confirmation of Applicant Eligibility	8
4.	Pro	ogram Timelines	8
5.	Fu	nding for the Program	8
,	5.1	Payment Schedule	9
	5.2	When is Funding Paid to the Recipient	9
6.	Ор	peration of the Program	10
(	6.1	Loss of Eligibility	10
	6.1	I.1 Willful Submission of False or Misleading Information	10
	6.1	1.2 Negligent Submission of False or Misleading Information	10
	6.1	I.3 Abusive Toward Individuals Administering Program	10
	6.1	I.4 Debt Owing to Ontario	10
	6.1 Re	equirements of Law	
	6.1	<ul><li>Failure to Comply with Certain Additional Terms and Conditions of the Prog</li><li>11</li></ul>	yram
(	6.2	Termination of the Program	11
7.	Ad	ditional Terms And Conditions for the Program	12
•	7.1	Provision of Information	12
•	7.2	Record-Keeping Requirements	12
	7.3	Audit	12
•	7.4	General	12

8. Co	ollection, Use And Disclosure Of Personal Information Under The Program	13
8.1	Collection Of Limited Personal Information	13
8.2	Use And Disclosure Of Social Insurance Number (SIN)	13
8.3	Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act	13
9. Co	ollection Of Debts	13
9.1	Collection Of Existing Debt	13
9.2	Overpayments	14
9.3	Interest	14
9.4	Termination Of Program Does Not Affect Requirement To Repay Overpayment	14
10. G	eneral	14
10.1	Authority For Program	14
10.2	Conflict Resolution	14
10.3	Amending Guidelines	14
10.4	Errors And Omissions Accepted	14
11. In	terpretation of Guidelines	15
11.1	Definitions	15
11.2	Interpretation Of Guidelines	16

## 1. PURPOSE OF THE PROGRAM

The purpose of the Program is to provide grants for Newly Licensed Veterinarians who practice on Food Animals in Underserviced Areas of Ontario. The \$5 million Program will run for nine years, from 2023-24 to 2031-32, and provide eligible veterinarians with up to \$50,000 in grant Payments, paid over a five-year period in accordance with the Payment schedule outlined at Section 5. These Payments are meant to incentivize veterinarians to provide service to Food Animal producers in areas of Ontario with recognized veterinary access issues.

#### **Definitions**

Read the definitions to help you understand the terms used in these guidelines.

## 2. WHO CAN APPLY

#### 2.1 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

To be eligible to participate in the Program, an Applicant must meet the following requirements:

- a. Be and remain a veterinarian licensed to practice veterinary medicine in Ontario;
- b. Be Newly Licensed to practice in Ontario, within five (5) years from the date of application to the Program;
- c. Be self-employed or work as an associate/staff veterinarian in a veterinary Clinic;
- d. Work in a full-time capacity at a Food Animal or mixed animal practice that services Food Animals;
- e. Work or provide service to Food Animals in an Underserviced Area in Ontario;
- f. Provide in-person service, regular on-farm service and/or emergency on-farm service to an Underserviced Area or an Additional Underserviced Area;
- g. Submit a completed Application Form to the AAC in accordance with Section 3 of these Guidelines;
- h. Provide the AAC with:
  - Attestation as to the type and location of the practice and located in an Additional Underserviced Area, how the location is servicing underserviced clients in specific species;
  - ii. Annual attestation for the duration of the Program as to the type and location of the practice; and,
  - iii. Immediate notice of any change in employment status.
- i. Agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Program; and,
- Have not lost their eligibility to participate in this Program under Section 6.1 of these Guidelines.

## 3. HOW TO APPLY

#### 3.1 APPLICATION SUBMISSION

Applicants will apply through the AAC's Application Portal available online at https://adaptcouncil.smartsimple.ca/.

Applicants must apply using an approved Application available online. Applicants must ensure that their Application is fully completed.

Completed Applications are received on a continuous basis and are to be submitted **no later than 11:59PM ET on March 31, 2027** for the 2027/2028 Program Year. Applications submitted after this date **will not** be accepted under the Program.

## For Doctor of Veterinary Medicine Students graduating in the Spring of 2027 only:

- Applicants are encouraged to submit a Confirmation of Applicant Eligibility Form during your final year of study, as soon as a confirmed job offer from a clinic located in an Underserviced or Additional Underserviced Area is received.
- Applicants must submit a completed Application Form no later than March 31, 2027 providing an estimated date for obtaining a licence.
- Applicants must submit an updated Application Form no later than July 31, 2027 providing
  the date the licence was approved and licence number. Updated Application Forms
  submitted after July 31, 2027 will not be accepted under the Program.

#### 3.2 ONLINE REGISTRATION AND SUBMISSION

Applicants must create one account for AAC's online application system.

Applicants will follow the instructions in AAC's online application system to apply.

If you apply and do not receive a confirmation email within two Business Days, please contact the AAC at admin@adaptcouncil.org or call 1-800-769-3272.

#### 3.3 HOW IS AN APPLICATION ASSESSED

All complete Applications will be evaluated according to the eligibility requirements outlined in Section 2.1 and a merit/priority basis outlined in Section 3.4, as long as funds remain available for the Program. Applications will not be considered if they do not meet eligibility criteria or if they

are incomplete. Applications will be assigned to an AAC staff member who will follow-up on incomplete Applications and may contact an Applicant to obtain additional information.

#### 3.4 MERIT AND PRIORITY REVIEW

Applications from Applicants meeting the following merit and priority will be reviewed on a first-come, first-served basis, as long as funding remains available:

- Licensed Veterinarians most Newly Licensed, servicing an Underserviced Area;
- Licensed Veterinarians most Newly Licensed, servicing an Additional Underserviced Area; or,
- Licensed Veterinarians relocating to a Clinic in an Underserviced Area.

Applications from Applicants meeting the following merit and priority will be reviewed after January 31, 2024, as long as funding remains available (after March 31, 2024, these Applications will be reviewed after October 31 of each Program Year):

- Licensed Veterinarians currently servicing an Underserviced Area; or,
- Licensed Veterinarians currently servicing an Additional Underserviced Area.

#### 3.5 HOW WILL APPLICANTS BE NOTIFIED OF FUNDING DECISIONS

The Applicant will be notified by email once an Application has been reviewed and a decision has been made. There are two possible outcomes:

- Application is approved the Applicant will be contacted by the AAC to inform them of
  the approval. The Applicant will be required to enter into a funding agreement with the
  AAC and comply with its terms and conditions for the duration of the project. The Applicant
  will also receive confirmation of the procedure to receive funding and reporting
  submission deadlines.
- Application is declined the Applicant will be contacted by the AAC and receive a brief explanation for the decision.

#### 3.6 CONFIRMATION OF VETERINARY CLINIC ELIGIBILITY

Eligible veterinarian Clinics may complete the Confirmation of Veterinary Clinic Eligibility Form to confirm the eligibility of their Clinic, in advance of the Applicant submitting their application. Veterinary Clinics will complete the form through the AAC's Application Portal available online at https://adaptcouncil.smartsimple.ca/.The confirmation of eligibility of the Clinic does not

guarantee an Application will be approved; it confirms the eligibility of the Clinic as outlined in Section 11.1 Definitions. The confirmation of Veterinary Clinic Eligibility Form can be submitted directly to AAC by the veterinarian Clinic. The Clinic should notify the Applicant that they have confirmed their eligibility.

If you submit the form and do not receive a confirmation email within two Business Days, please contact the AAC at admin@adaptcouncil.org or call 1-800-769-3272.

#### 3.7 CONFIRMATION OF APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY

Eligible veterinary students may complete the Confirmation of Applicant Eligibility Form to confirm their eligibility as an Applicant, in advance of submitting their Application. Veterinary students will complete the form through the AAC's Application Portal available online at https://adaptcouncil.smartsimple.ca/.The confirmation of eligibility does not guarantee an Application will be approved; it confirms the eligibility of the Applicant based on the parameters below. The Confirmation of Applicant Eligibility Form can be submitted directly to AAC by the prospective Applicant. The Applicant should notify the Clinic that they have confirmed their eligibility.

If you submit the form and do not receive a confirmation email within two Business Days, please contact the AAC at admin@adaptcouncil.org or call 1-800-769-3272.

### **Eligibility Parameters:**

- Be a current student at a university accredited to teach veterinary medicine;
- Be in the large animal or mixed animal streams;
- Be in the final year of study; and,
- Have a job offer from a Clinic in an Underserviced Area or Additional Underserviced Area.

## 4. PROGRAM TIMELINES

- **Program Duration** The Program will begin on October 26, 2023 and end March 31, 2032.
- Application Intake Open The Program will begin accepting Application Forms on October 26, 2023 for the 2023/2024 Program Year.
- **Application Intake Close** The Program will stop accepting Application Forms at 11:59PM ET on March 31, 2027 for the 2027/2028 Program Year.

## 5. FUNDING FOR THE PROGRAM

A Recipient may be eligible to receive up to a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) under the Program, payable over 5 years.

#### 5.1 PAYMENT SCHEDULE

Payments, totaling up to \$50,000, will be made in accordance with the following schedule, as further defined in the funding agreement AAC will enter into with successful Applicants:

- Year 1 \$5,000 (\$2,500 upon approval and \$2,500 after one complete year of Program participation)
- Year 2 \$7,500 at the end of two years of Program participation
- Year 3 \$10,000 at the end of three years of Program participation
- Year 4 \$12,500 at the end of four years of Program participation
- Year 5 \$15,000 at the end of five years of Program participation

#### 5.2 WHEN IS FUNDING PAID TO THE RECIPIENT

Funding will be paid annually to the Recipient upon submission of an annual attestation confirming the eligibility requirements have been met for the previous year for the Recipient and the Clinic. Submission deadlines and a template for the annual attestation for the Recipient and the Clinic will be included in the funding agreement.

## 6. OPERATION OF THE PROGRAM

Terms used in these Guidelines are defined below in Section 11.2 Interpretation of Guidelines.

#### 6.1 LOSS OF ELIGIBILITY

#### 6.1.1 Willful Submission of False or Misleading Information

Any Applicant or Recipient that willfully submits false or misleading information under the Program will:

- Not be eligible to participate in the Program or will have their eligibility to participate in the Program revoked; and
- b. Repay any Payments received under the Program.

## 6.1.2 Negligent Submission of False or Misleading Information

Any Applicant or Recipient that acted in a negligent manner in allowing false or misleading information to be submitted under the Program:

- a. Will be deemed by AAC at its sole and absolute discretion to be ineligible to further participate in the Program; and
- b. Will be responsible for repaying any Payments received under the Program.

## 6.1.3 Abusive Toward Individuals Administering Program

An Applicant or Recipient that is abusive toward any individual responsible for administering the Program will receive one written warning regarding their conduct from the Program Director. If the Applicant or Recipient continues with their abusive behaviour, they will be deemed ineligible to further participate in the Program.

#### 6.1.4 Debt Owing to Ontario

An Applicant or Recipient may be found to be ineligible to participate in the Program or have their eligibility to participate in the Program revoked if they:

- a. Owe a debt to Ontario and do not have a repayment plan with Ontario, including any agents thereof; or
- b. Are not in compliance with any repayment plan with Ontario, including any agents thereof.

## 6.1.5 Failure to Continue to Meet Eligibility Requirements or Compliance with Requirements of Law

A Recipient may have their eligibility to participate in the Program revoked where they fail to:

- a. Continue to meet the eligibility requirements set out under Section 2.1 of these Guidelines while participating in the Program; or
- b. Remain in compliance with the following for their business operations while participating in the Program:
  - Veterinarian-related Requirements of Law and be in good standing with the College of Veterinarians of Ontario.
  - ii. Environmental-related Requirements Of Law,
  - iii. Labour-related Requirements Of Law,
  - iv. Tax-related Requirements Of Law, or
  - v. Material compliance with all other Requirements Of Law.

A finding with respect to the foregoing shall be determined by AAC at its sole and absolute discretion.

### 6.1.6 Failure to Comply with Certain Additional Terms and Conditions of the Program

A Recipient that fails to comply with the additional terms and conditions set out under Section 7 of these Guidelines may have their eligibility to participate in the Program revoked and may be required to repay any Payments received under the Program.

#### 6.2 TERMINATION OF THE PROGRAM

The Program may terminate at any time without prior notice. Where the Program is terminated, the following will apply:

- a. A notice will be placed on the website that hosts these Guidelines setting out the date on which the Program is terminated; and
- b. A Recipient that is owed a Payment for the Program Year in which the Program is terminated will be paid unless there is no appropriation for that Payment, in which case no Payment will be made.

## 7. ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR THE PROGRAM

#### 7.1 PROVISION OF INFORMATION

An Applicant or Recipient will provide, as the case may be, any information that is requested by AAC as soon as practicable after the request has been made and no later than the date set out in the request.

#### 7.2 RECORD-KEEPING REQUIREMENTS

A Recipient will keep all financial information related to any Payment for a period of seven (7) years after the Payment was provided to the Recipient.

#### 7.3 AUDIT

Ontario or AAC, including any of its delegates, may, upon providing at least 24 hours' notice beforehand, conduct an audit of an Applicant or Recipient in relation to the Program. The Applicant or Recipient will provide reasonable assistance to Ontario, including:

- a. Access to any person, place or thing required for auditing purposes as soon as is practicable after the request is made and no later than the date set out in the request;
- b. Allowing for the inspection of any records that relate to the Payment;
- c. Allowing for the copying of any records that relate to the Payment; and
- d. The taking of pictures and other recordings.

#### 7.4 GENERAL

- a. Applying to the Program does not create a legal, equitable or other right to participate in the Program.
- b. Participating in the Program does not create a legal, equitable or other right to receive a Payment under the Program.
- c. Any Payments a Recipient may be eligible to receive under this Program may be terminated if the Program is discontinued by Ontario and as a result there are insufficient funds for AAC to make full Payments under this Program. The AAC will determine if there are insufficient funds as well as any rate of proration that is to be made.
- d. A Payment shall be treated as income for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada).
- e. An Applicant or Recipient will not assign any Payments they may be eligible to receive to another Person.
- f. Payments being provided under this Program are for the administration of social or economic programs or the provision of direct or indirect support to members of the public in connection with social or economic policy.

- g. The rights and obligations under the Program will be governed by Ontario law and applicable federal laws of Canada.
- h. Except as otherwise provided in these Guidelines, Ontario's courts will have exclusive jurisdiction over any dispute arising under the Program.

# 8. COLLECTION, USE AND DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL INFORMATION UNDER THE PROGRAM

#### 8.1 COLLECTION OF LIMITED PERSONAL INFORMATION

The collection of certain limited Personal Information as defined in the *Freedom of Information* and *Protection of Privacy Act* ("FIPPA") is necessary for the proper administration of the Program and is authorized by the Minster's Order.

### 8.2 USE AND DISCLOSURE OF SOCIAL INSURANCE NUMBER (SIN)

A Recipient who is eligible to receive a Payment and is a sole proprietor, partner in a partnership, or a member of an unincorporated entity without a CRA BN, will, as a condition for receiving the Payment, consent to the use and disclosure of Personal Information collected under the Program for the purposes of enforcing the terms and conditions of the Program. Such purposes to include:

- a. Confirming the Recipient paid any applicable taxes on the Payment;
- b. Conducting audits; and
- c. Collecting any Overpayment or any other debt owing to Ontario arising prior to the Recipient's participation in the Program.

#### 8.3 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT

Certain information provided under the Program may, with the exception of a Recipient's SIN, be subject to disclosure under the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*. Information may also be disclosed by order of a court or tribunal, pursuant to a legal proceeding or as otherwise authorized or required by law.

## 9. COLLECTION OF DEBTS

#### 9.1 COLLECTION OF EXISTING DEBT

In the event a Recipient owes a debt to Ontario and is eligible to receive a Payment, that Payment may be applied as a set-off against the debt that the Recipient owes to Ontario.

#### 9.2 OVERPAYMENTS

Any Recipient that receives an Overpayment owes a debt to Ontario. The Recipient will repay that debt to Ontario in accordance with any directions the AAC issues to the Recipient.

#### 9.3 INTEREST

Ontario may charge interest on any Overpayment at the rate that Ontario charges for accounts receivable.

## 9.4 TERMINATION OF PROGRAM DOES NOT AFFECT REQUIREMENT TO REPAY OVERPAYMENT

The termination of the Program <u>does not</u> affect a Recipient's obligation to repay any Overpayment made under the Program.

## 10. GENERAL

#### 10.1 AUTHORITY FOR PROGRAM

The authority for the Program comes from the Minister's Order.

#### 10.2 CONFLICT RESOLUTION

In the event of a conflict or omission between:

- a. The Application Form and the Guidelines, the Guidelines will prevail; and
- b. The Guidelines and the Minister's Order, the Minister's Order will prevail.

#### 10.3 AMENDING GUIDELINES

The AAC may amend these Guidelines at any time without prior notice. Any amendments to these Guidelines will be posted on the same website as where these Guidelines were originally posted. Any amendments to these Guidelines will not have a retroactive effect.

#### 10.4 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS ACCEPTED

Applicants and Recipients accept any errors and/or omissions that may be in these Guidelines.

## 11. INTERPRETATION OF GUIDELINES

## 11.1 DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of these Guidelines, the terms set out this Section 11.1 of the Guidelines will have the meanings herein, unless the context indicates otherwise.

"Administrator" or "AAC" means the Agricultural Adaptation Council.

"Additional Underserviced Areas" means geographic areas in Ontario, outside of the Underserviced Areas, whereby an Applicant needs to demonstrate through attestation in their Application Form that Food Animal clients are underserviced in their geographical area and where the Applicant will be providing in-person service, regular on-farm service, and/or emergency on-farm service.

"Applicant" means a Person who has applied to participate in the Program.

"Application" or "Application Form" means the AAC document the Applicant submits to apply to the Initiative.

"Clinic" means a veterinarian clinic categorized as a Food Producing Animal Mobile Clinic. Clinics may prequalify (as an eligible clinic for the purpose of job postings) based on geographic areas and species served. Clinics may be located in an Underserviced Area. Clinics may be located outside of an Underserviced Area as long as they provide in-person service, regular onfarm service, and/or emergency on-farm service to an Additional Underserviced Area.

"CRA BN" means the Canada Revenue Agency Business Number the Canada Revenue Agency issues to businesses for tax purposes.

"Food Animal" means beef, dairy, veal, swine, sheep, goats, commercial and/or small flock poultry, bison, and may also include honeybees, aquaculture, meat rabbits, and game birds.

"Guidelines" means this document, as it may be amended from time to time.

"Licensed Veterinarian" means a veterinarian licensed by the College of Veterinarians of Ontario.

"Minister's Order" means Minister's Order 0010/2023.

"Ministry" means the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.

"Newly Licensed" means that the veterinarian Applicant first obtained their licence to practice veterinary medicine in Ontario within five (5) years from the date of Application.

"Ontario" means His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and includes any successor, whether it is His Majesty the King or Her Majesty the Queen.

### "Overpayment" means a Payment to which the Recipient:

- i. Was not eligible to receive at the time the Recipient received the Payment; or
- ii. Ceases to be eligible to receive at any time after the Recipient received the Payment.

"Payment" means the direct or indirect provision of money to a Recipient under the Program.

"**Personal Information**" means as defined in Section 2 of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

"Program" means the Veterinary Incentive Program, as established by the Minister's Order.

"Program Year" means April 1 of one calendar year until March 31 of the following calendar year.

"Recipient" means an Applicant t that has entered into a funding agreement to receive a Payment under the Program.

"Requirements Of Law" means statutes, regulations, by-laws, ordinances, codes, official plans, rules, approvals, permits, licences, authorizations, orders, decrees, injunctions, directions, directives and agreements.

"SIN" means Social Insurance Number.

"Underserviced Area" means geographic areas covered by the Veterinary Incentive Program, namely, all areas in the province of Ontario north of, and including, the County of Renfrew, the County of Haliburton, the Township of Addington Highlands, the Township of Carlow/Mayo, the Township of Limerick, the Township of Wollaston, the Township of Georgian Bluffs, the Town of South Bruce Peninsula, and the District Municipality of Muskoka. Additional "underserviced areas" include areas that have veterinary coverage for some species but are underserviced for others (e.g., beef cattle, sheep). Applicants practicing in Clinics outside of the named eligible areas may qualify if they demonstrate that Food Animal clients are underserved in their area.

#### 11.2 INTERPRETATION OF GUIDELINES

For the purposes of interpreting these Guidelines:

- a. Words in the singular include the plural and vice versa;
- b. The headings do not form part of these Guidelines they are for reference purposes only and will not affect the interpretation of these Guidelines;
- c. Any reference to dollars or currency will be to Canadian dollars and currency, unless indicated otherwise;
- d. Any reference to a statute means a statute of the Province of Ontario, unless indicated otherwise;
- e. Any reference to a statute is to that statute and to the regulations made pursuant to that statute as they may be amended and to any statute or regulations that may be passed or made that have the effect of supplanting or superseding that statue or regulation, unless indicated otherwise;
- f. Any reference to a Minister's Order is a reference to that Minister's Order as it may be amended and to any Minister's Order that has the effect of supplanting or superseding that Minister's Order, unless indicated otherwise;
- g. All accounting terms used herein will be interpreted in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles used in Canada; and
- h. The words "include", "includes" and "including" denote that the subsequent list is not exhaustive.